
 

Council Meeting Agenda   July 4, 2023 
  Page 1 of 4 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

       July 4, 2023 – 6:00 p.m. 
 

AGENDA  
 

Topic: Regular Council Meeting 
Time:  July 4, 2023 6:00 P.M.  
  

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88341255141  
 
Dial by your location 
+1 647 374 4685 Canada 
+1 647 558 0588 Canada 
 
23-446 1st resolution 
2023- 51 1st by-law 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND/OR PERSONAL INTEREST AND 
GENERAL NATURE THEREOF  

 

4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 

5. CLOSED SESSION  
 

 5.1 Minutes of Closed Session – June 20, 2023 
5.2 Litigation or potential litigation, including matters before administrative 

tribunals, affecting the municipality or local board; pursuant to Ontario 
Municipal Act, Section 239(2)(e) – Land Acquisitions  

 

6. CALL TO ORDER – REGULAR SESSION (6:30pm) 
 

7. RESPECT AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT DECLARATION 
In the spirit of reconciliation and co-operation, we wish to acknowledge that the 
land on which we gather is the traditional territory of the Anishinaabe and 
Mississauga people. Its boundaries fall within the Robinson-Huron Treaty of 
1850 and the Williams Treaty of 1923. We are grateful to live here and we thank 
all the generations of people who have taken care of this land for thousands of 
years. To honour the suffering of Indigenous people and the love and wisdom 
they have carried for thousands of years, we pledge to work in community and 
harmony with each other and the environment we inhabit and work towards 
Truth and Reconciliation. 

 

8. ROLL CALL 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88341255141


 

Council Meeting Agenda   July 4, 2023 
  Page 2 of 4 
 

9.  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND/OR PERSONAL INTEREST AND 
GENERAL NATURE THEREOF  

 

10. PUBLIC MEETING  
 

11. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
 

 11.1 Don Sneyd, Fire Route 160 
  

12. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE  
 

 12.1 Public Works Updates 
  

13. MOTION TO REVIEW A PREVIOUS MOTION  
 

14. ADOPTION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  
 

14.1 June 20, 2023 Regular Meeting and June 28, 2023 Special Closed 
Meeting of Council Minutes 

  

15. PLANNING MATTERS     
 

 15.1 Conditions Met Draft Letter Consent Application - B42/2022 (Hardie) 
   

16. COMMITTEE/BOARD MINUTES WITH RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
 APPROVAL  

 

16.1 District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board Minutes of 
the March 9, 2023, April 13, 2023 and May 11, 2023 Meetings 

16.2 Township of McKellar Public Library Board April 24, 2023 Meeting 
Minutes 

16.3 Lake Stewardship & Environmental Committee Draft Minutes of the June 
8, 2023 Meeting 

 

17. STAFF REPORTS WITH RECOMMENDATIONS FOR APPROVAL  
 

 17.1 FD-2023-11 Monthly Status Update for June 2023 
 17.2 BYLAW-2023-05 Monthly By-law Report for June 2023 

 

18. MAYOR’S REPORT 
  

19. CORRESPONDENCE FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 19.1 FONOM's Housing Support Resolution  
19.2 City of Quinte West, Legislative Amendments to Improve Municipal 

Codes of Conduct and Enforcement 
19.3  Town of Parry Sound, Call for Additional Resources to Combat Opioid, 

Mental Health and Homelessness  
19.4 District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board Housing and 

Homelessness Annual Report 2022-2023 
19.5 District of Social Services Administration Board CAO’s Reports for May 

and June 2023 
19.6 City of Woodstock, Highway Traffic Act Amendments 



 

Council Meeting Agenda   July 4, 2023 
  Page 3 of 4 
 

19.7 Township of Carling, Parry Sound Area Planning Board 
19.8 Minerva Park - Geese Excrement 
19.9 McKellar Lake Road - Poison Ivy  

19.10 Letter from Reg Moore dated June 27, 2023 
 

20. MOTION AND NOTICE OF MOTION 
 

 20.1 Proposed Private Right of Way Name - Salway Lane  
 20.2 Proposed name for Former Fire Route 306 to Pine Tree Lane  
 20.3 JT Masons Deposit Request for Work on St. Stephen’s Church 

20.4 Grant Current Term of Council the Authority to View Closed Session 
Items from Previous Term of Council (2019-2022) 

20.5 Parry Sound High School Nutrition Program Donation  
20.6 Noise Exemption – Ribfest Sunday July 9th at 701 Hwy 124 McKellar 
20.7 Letter of Consent – Serving Alcohol Outdoors at Ribfest Event 
 

21.  BY-LAWS  

21.1 By-law 2023-51 to Stop Up, Close and Sell Part of the Original Road 
Allowance Between Plan 275 Block A, Con 6 Lot 29 

 

22. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

23. NEW BUSINESS 
  

24. PUBLIC NOTICES, ANNOUNCEMENTS, INQUIRIES AND REPORTS BY 
 COUNCIL MEMBERS  

 

25. CONSENT AGENDA – CORRESPONDENCE   
 

 25.1 Email from Susan Adamson dated April 24, 2023 
 25.2 Email from Walter Reva dated June 20, 2023 
 25.3 Email from Danielle Stewart dated June 20, 2023 
 25.4 Letter from Janice Wilson dated June 20, 2023  
 25.5 AMO Watchfile – June 15, 2023 

25.6 Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery – Subdivision and 
Condominium Registrations  

25.7 AMO Policy Update - Strong Mayor Powers Expanded 
25.8 Email from the Schnare’s dated June 21, 2023 
25.9 Letter from Steve Macdonell dated June 22, 2023 
25.10 Email from Christine and Roman Szklar dated June 23, 2023 
25.11 Municipality of North Perth, Vacant Building Official Positions 
25.12 Municipality of North Perth, Proposed New Provincial Policy Statement 

 

26. QUESTION/COMMENT PERIOD (RELATED TO ITEMS ON AGENDA) 
 

27. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 
 

 27.1 By-law 2023-52 - Confirming the Proceedings of Council 
  

28. ADJOURNMENT 
 



 

Council Meeting Agenda   July 4, 2023 
  Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
 

Instructions for Joining the Council Meeting 
 

 

1. Please try to sign in between 6:20 to 6:30 if possible; you are still 

welcome to sign in after 6:30 if necessary 
 

2. Please wait to be let in the ‘meeting room’; this won’t take long 
 

3. Please have your mic and video on mute unless you are speaking; 

this ensures there are no distractions or background noise to disrupt 

the meeting 
 

4. When you sign in please sign in with your full name (first and last), 

not a company name 
 

5. A question and answer opportunity will be available at the end of the 

meeting as per normal protocol or during the Public Meeting 
 

6. If you have permission to speak please identify yourself (first and last 

name).   
 

7. Please respect meeting protocol and do not interrupt the meeting.  

The Municipality reserves the right to remove attendees who are 

disruptive or disrespect meeting protocol. 
 



Item 11.1



Item 12.1





 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 1 of 8 

 

 
Mayor Moore called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Moore took Roll Call. 
 
Present:  Mayor David Moore 
  Councillors Morley Haskim, Mike Kekkonen, Nick Ryeland (via Zoom), Debbie Zulak 
Staff:  Deputy Clerk/Planning Assistant, Karlee Britton 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND/OR PERSONAL INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE 
THEREOF 

Councillor Haskim declared a personal interest for Item 15.1. 
 

Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by: Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-420 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby approve the Agenda, as amended to: 

 

1. Move Item 15.1 & 15.2 Planning Matter to precede Item 11.1 Delegations and 
Presentations; 

2. To add Item 15.3 (iii) Site Plan Evaluation Report for Consent Application No. 
B02/2022;  

3. To add Item 20.1 Recreation Committee Appointment; and  
4. To add Item 23.1 Volunteerism under New Business. 
 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None.  

 
Carried 

Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-421 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar, 
pursuant to the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, as amended, move into closed session at 
6:04 p.m. to discuss the following items; 

 
 5.1 Minutes of Closed Session – June 8, 2023 

5.2 Personal matters about an identifiable individual, including Municipal or local 
board employees, pursuant to Ontario Municipal Act, Section 239(2)(b) – By-
law Enforcement Recruitment & Committee Appointment  

 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None.  

Carried 
 
 
 

Item 14.1



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 2 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-422 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby reconvene into open session of Council at 6:25 p.m. 
 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None.  

                       Carried 
 

Mayor Moore called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Moore took Roll Call. 
 
Present:  Mayor David Moore 
  Councillors Morley Haskim, Mike Kekkonen, Nick Ryeland (via Zoom), Debbie Zulak 
Staff: Deputy Clerk/Planning Assistant, Karlee Britton; Treasurer, Roshan Kantiya (for his 

respective items on the agenda) 
Guests: Patrick Christie, Parry Sound Area Planning Board; Carl Pahapill, Pahapill & 

Associates  
 
RESPECT AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT DECLARATION 
 

In the spirit of reconciliation and co-operation, we wish to acknowledge that the land on which we 
gather is the traditional territory of the Anishinaabe and Mississauga people. Its boundaries fall within 
the Robinson-Huron Treaty of 1850 and the Williams Treaty of 1923. We are grateful to live here and 
we thank all the generations of people who have taken care of this land for thousands of years. To 
honour the suffering of Indigenous people and the love and wisdom they have carried for thousands of 
years, we pledge to work in community and harmony with each other and the environment we inhabit 
and work towards Truth and Reconciliation. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND/OR PERSONAL INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE 
THEREOF 
 
Councillor Haskim declared a personal interest for Item 15.1. 
 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Haskim 
 

23-423 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby accept the reports, recommendations and directions arising from the 
closed session held June 20, 2023. 

 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

Carried 
 
Councillor Haskim left the meeting.  



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 3 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-424 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby approve the proposed consent to create one new rural lot on Part of Lot 
23, Concession 3 as applied for by Arnold Crossman in Application No. B12/2023 
(McK) subject to the following conditions:  

 

1. Payment of a fee in lieu of parkland dedication in accordance with the Township’s 
fee By-law;  

2. 911 Addressing at the time of issuance of an entrance or building permit;  
3. Verification from the Director of Operations that the new lot can accommodate an 

entrance onto Centre Road; 
4. Payment of applicable planning fees;  
5. That any portion of Centre Rd. 33 feet (10 metres) from the centre line be 

conveyed to the Township.  
 

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  Councillor Haskim.  

 
Carried 

Councillor Haskim re-entered the meeting.  
 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-425 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby approve the proposed consent to create one new rural lot on Wendy’s 
Lane as applied for by 2165268 Ontario Ltd. in Application No. B14/2023 (McK) 
subject to the following conditions:  

 

1. Payment of a fee in lieu of parkland dedication; 
2. Obtaining confirmation from the Director of Operations that there are suitable 

driveway locations for the severed and retained lots on to Wendy’s Lane; 
3. That any portion of Wendy’s Lane 33 feet (10 metres) from the centre line be 

conveyed to the Township;  
4. 911 Addressing at the time of issuance of an entrance or building permit; 
5. Payment of applicable planning fees.  

 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Haskim 
 

23-426 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby receive the deputation from Pahapill And Associates Chartered 

Accountants presenting the draft 2022 Financial Statements.  

  
 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 4 of 8 

 

 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-427 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby approve the Minutes of the June 6, 2023 Regular Meeting of Council and 

the June 8, 2023 Special Closed Meeting of Council; as circulated.   

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

   Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-428 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby receive the memo dated June 20, 2023 from Deputy Clerk/Planning 

Assistant, Karlee Britton, and the letter dated June 20, 2023 from Brad Roberts; and  

FURTHER THAT condition No. 6 in Resolution No. 22-236 be deleted except for the 

recommendation that a site evaluation report be prepared; and  

FURTHER THAT a 51(26) condition be added to have the FriCorp Ecological Services 

Report dated November 2022 be registered on title; and  

FURTHER THAT the applicant is to pay $5,500.00 for the partial closed road 

allowance abutting 211 Burnett’s Road.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-429 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby receive the minutes of the May 25, 2023 meeting of the Township of 

McKellar Recreation Committee.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

   Carried 
 
 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 5 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-430 WHEREAS the Township received the Master Services Agreement (MSA) for services 

related to blue box material from Circular Materials Ontario (CMO) at the end of May 

2023; and  

WHEREAS staff have been working with CMO to settle upon an agreement to opt in to 

the operations of the Blue Box depot and to opt out of collections (being hauling) of 

blue box material; and 

WHEREAS the Township requires more time to work with CMO; and  

WHEREAS CMO has notified 2024 Transitioning Municipalities that executed 

agreements or a resolution from Council showing intent to approve must be received 

by June 30, 2023;  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the 

Township of McKellar does hereby intend to work with Circular Materials Ontario and 

subsequently approve a Master Services Agreement after further review.   

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

   Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-431 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby receive Report PW-2023-07 and award RFP No. PW-2023-10 Municipal 
Complex Building Shingle Replacement to Northbound Roofing in the amount of 
$47,133.33 with HST of $6,127.33 for a total of $53,260.66.  

 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

  Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Haskim 
 

23-432 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby receive the Accounts Payable Preliminary Cheque Run Report for May 

2023, for information purposes.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

   Carried 
Treasurer, Roshan Kantiya left the meeting.  



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 6 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-433 WHEREAS community radio upholds, roots, promotes and advocates on behalf of the 

people, organization, businesses and industry; and  

WHEREAS a strong community builds strong individuals, neighbourhoods, businesses 

and industry; and  

WHEREAS community radio renders a collective voice for the community, manifests 

and sustains the community’s identity and emerges, expands and advances the 

community; and  

WHEREAS airwaves are public property and not-for-profit community radio ownership 

provides community access to the airwaves and fosters programming based on 

community participation, reflects the special interests and needs of its listeners, 

stimulates cultural enrichment and socio-economic endeavors; and   

WHEREAS community radio promotes diversity in the broadcasting opinions, spoken 

word content and musical programming and focuses on the arts, local history and 

interests, needs and initiatives, including local and Municipal new, current events and 

local sports all of which form the basis of the station’s programming; and  

WHEREAS today’s commercial media landscape has become more centralized in 

corporate interests and less focussed on comprehensive local coverage and content;  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the 

Township of McKellar hereby recognises the importance and validity of community 

radio and its value in preserving and building a local, collective voice and identity while 

supporting and advocating local interests; and  

FURTHER THAT the Council of the Township of McKellar supports an application for 

community FM radio as proposed to the Canadian Radio-Television and 

Telecommunications Commission (CRTC) by the Parry Sound Community Radio 

Association.   

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

   Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-434 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby appoint Chris Bishop to the Township of McKellar Recreation Committee.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

         Carried 
 
 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 7 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Haskim 
 

23-435 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby give By-law No. 2023-48, being a by-law to Enter into a Service Contract 

with Chris Everitt for By-law Enforcement and to Appoint a By-law Officer, a First and 

Second reading; 

And further Read a Third time and Passed in Open Council this 20th day of June, 

2023. 

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

         Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-436 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby recognize the volunteer efforts of John Stewart and John Toohey, 

members of the Manitou Cottage Association, by ensuring that they are listed as 

insured on the Township of McKellar’s insurance policy while they perform 

maintenance work on F.R. 152, F.R. 152A, and F.R. 152B, providing that those herein 

named sign a waiver agreement wherein they  discharge the Township of McKellar 

and its respective officers, directors, agents, contractors, subcontractors and 

employees from all liability that might arise while performing their voluntary  

participation in said maintenance work.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

         Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-437 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 

does hereby receive the consent agenda for correspondence.  

DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

         Carried 
 
QUESTION/COMMENT PERIOD (RELATED TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA)  
 
There were no questions from the in-person audience or on Zoom. 
 
 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                                      June 20, 2023 

 
Page 8 of 8 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-438 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby give By-law No. 2023-49, being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of 
Council, a First and Second reading; 

 
And further Read a Third time and Passed in Open Council this 20th day of June, 
2023. 
 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

                       Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-439 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
adjourn this meeting at 9:06 p.m. to meet again on July 4, 2023; or at the call of the 
Mayor.  
 
DIVISION VOTE 
 

YEAS:   Councillors Haskim, Kekkonen, Ryeland, Zulak, Mayor Moore. 
NAYS:  None. 
ABSTAIN:  None.  
ABSENT:  None. 

                       Carried 
            

 
 
 
 
____________________________________             ____________________________________ 
David Moore, Mayor     Karlee Britton, Deputy Clerk 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Special Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                         June 28, 2023 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

 
Mayor Moore called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Moore took Roll Call. 
 
Present:  Mayor David Moore 
  Councillors Morley Haskim, Mike Kekkonen, Nick Ryeland, Debbie Zulak 
Staff:  Clerk/Administrator, Ina Watkinson 
Guests: By-law Enforcement Officer, Chris Everitt for his respective section on the agenda 
   
DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND/OR PERSONAL INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE 
THEREOF 
There were no conflicts of interest declared. 
 

Moved by:  Councillor Ryeland 
Seconded by: Councillor Haskim 
 

23-440 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby approve the Agenda for this special closed meeting of Council, as 
presented. 

Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-441 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar, 
pursuant to the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, as amended, move into closed session at 
6:01 p.m. to discuss the following items; 

 
5.1 Personal matters about an identifiable individual, including Municipal or local 

board employees, pursuant to Ontario Municipal Act, Section 239(2)(b) –  
By-law Enforcement Recruitment 

Carried 
 

By-law Enforcement Officer, Chris Everitt entered the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Moved by:  Councillor Haskim 
Seconded by:  Councillor Ryeland 
 

23-442 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby reconvene into open session of Council at 9:16 p.m. 

                       Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
Seconded by:  Councillor Zulak 
 

23-443 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby accept the reports, recommendations and directions arising from the 
closed session held June 28, 2023. 

Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF MCKELLAR 
 

Special Council Meeting Minutes                                                                                         June 28, 2023 

 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Moved by:  Councillor Ryeland 
Seconded by:  Councillor Haskim 
 

23-444 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
does hereby give By-law No. 2023-50, being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of 
Council, a First and Second reading; 

 
And further Read a Third time and Passed in Open Council this 28th day of June, 
2023. 

                       Carried 
Moved by:  Councillor Zulak 
Seconded by:  Councillor Kekkonen 
 

23-445 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Township of McKellar 
adjourn this meeting at 9:19 p.m. to meet again on July 4, 2023; or at the call of the 
Mayor.  

 
                       Carried 

            
 
 
 
 
____________________________________             ____________________________________ 
David Moore, Mayor     Ina Watkinson, Clerk/Administrator  



 

 

                                                                         
            

  
                                                                  
 

 
 
Patrick Christie 
Parry Sound Area Planning Board 
1 Mall Drive, Unit 2  
Parry Sound, ON  
P2A 3A9 
 
via Email: psapb@vianet.ca  
 
Re: Consent Application - B42/2022 (Hardie)  
 
 
Dear Patrick,  
 
Please be advised that all of the following conditions for the above noted Consent 
Application have been met.  
 

1. That a fee in lieu of parkland dedication be paid to the Township of McKellar in 

accordance with the Township fee By-law; (Parkland paid on June 16, 2023)  

2. 911 addressing; (is not required until an entrance or building permit is applied for) 

3. Payment of any planning fees; (Fees paid on June 16, 2023) 

4. That the road in front of the properties in question, be brought up to an approved 

Municipal standard; (Lyndsey Lane – verified by Director of Operations)  

5. That the two new lots be rezoned to (RR) Rural Residential; (By-law 2023-05) 

6. Verification from the Director of Operations by way of a staff report, that the lots 

can accommodate entrances in compliance with Municipal standards. (letter 

dated December 15, 2022) 

 
Regards,  
 
 
 
Karlee Britton 
Deputy Clerk/Planning Assistant  
Township of McKellar  

Item 15.1

Township of McKellar____________________
701 Hwy #124, P.O. Box 69, McKellar, Ontario POG 1C0

Phone: (705) 389-2842
  Fax: (705) 389-1244

July  4, 2023

mailto:psapb@vianet.ca


MEETING MINUTES  
Thursday, March 9, 2023 at 6:30 PM 

Board Meeting via Zoom Video Conference 
 

 

Board Members Present:   Board Members Absent: 

  

 

 

 

 

 Staff:        

 

 

 

 

Guests: 

 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 

 The meeting was called to order by the Board Chair, Rick Zanussi at 6:31 PM.   

 

2. TRADITIONAL LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT. 

 

3.  DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST.  

 

4. ELECTIONS: 

 

4.1 Election of Vice-Chair   

The Chair conducted the election. 

 The Chair called for nominations from the floor three times for the position of Vice-Chair. 

  

Mr. Brandt was nominated and willing to stand.  No other nominations were put forward 

for the position of Vice-Chair. 

 

Resolution 23 03 01   CARRIED    

Moved by Ted Knight 

Seconded by Jamie McGarvey 

“THAT Jerry Brandt be appointed and approved as the Vice-Chair of the District of Parry 

Sound Social Services Administration Board for the year 2023.” 

 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

 5.1  February 9, 2023 

 Resolution 23 03 02   CARRIED    

 Moved by Teri Brandt 

 Seconded by Ted Knight 

Jerry Brandt Ted Knight 

Teri Brandt Tom Lundy 

Janice Bray Jamie McGarvey 

Mike Dell Sharon Smith 

Gail Finnson Rick Zanussi 

Teresa Hunt  

Ted Collins Sean Cotton 

Joel Constable Peter McIsaac 

Jennifer Harris, Administrative Officer  

Shannon Johnson, CFO 

Tammy MacKenzie, CAO 

Sarah Bissonette 

Item 16.1



2 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
March 9, 2023 

 “THAT the Board meeting minutes of Thursday, February 9, 2023 be approved as 

presented.” 

 

6. DEPUTATIONS & PRESENTATIONS. 

 

7. REPORTS: 

 

7.1 Chair 

 Welcomed new Board members Janice Bray and Mike Dell to the Board.  

Acknowledged International Women’s Day and thanked the women we have working for 

our organization.  

 

7.2 Chief Administrative Officer 

 Report was presented and reviewed by Ms. MacKenzie.  

Mentioned the Board training videos on SharePoint which are a great resource to 

understanding what we do at the DSSAB. 

We have reached out to all 22 municipalities with the offer to provide a presentation to 

councils on DSSAB services. Board members will be informed when we will be presenting 

to their municipalities.  

Our Zoning and OPA amendments for our Waubeek Street property were successfully 

obtained; in the next while we will have a discussion to figure out next steps with this 

property.  

 

7.3 Chief Financial Officer 

Thanked the Board for approving our 2023 Operating and Capital budgets at our February 

9th meeting.  The budget has been distributed to all municipalities and is posted on our 

website.  

 

8. OUTSTANDING ISSUES. 

 

9. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

9.1 Partnership with the WPSHC – Mental Health & Addictions Worker 

A written report was presented by Ms. MacKenzie.   

 

9.2 AMO’s 2023 Pre-Budget Submission 

A written report was presented by Ms. MacKenzie.  

  

Ms. Hunt joined the meeting at 6:55 PM.  

 

Resolution 23 03 03   CARRIED    

Moved by Sharon Smith 

Seconded by Gail Finnson 

“WHEREAS the homeless crisis is taking a devasting toll on families and communities, 

undermining a healthy and prosperous Ontario;  

 

WHEREAS the homelessness crisis is the result of the underinvestment and poor policy choices of 

successive provincial governments;  

 



3 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
March 9, 2023 

WHEREAS homelessness is felt most at the level of local government and the residents that they 

serve; 

 

WHEREAS municipalities and District Social Services Administration Boards are doing their part, 

but do not have the resources, capacity or tools to address this complex challenge; and  

 

WHEREAS leadership and urgent action is needed from the provincial government on an 

emergency basis to develop, resource, and implement a comprehensive plan to prevent, reduce and 

ultimately end homelessness in Ontario. 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the District of Parry Sound Social Services 

Administration Board calls on the Provincial Government to urgently: 

 

a) Acknowledge that homelessness in Ontario is a social, economic, and health crisis; 

b) Commit to ending homelessness in Ontario; 

c) Work with AMO, NOSDA, FONOM, NOMA and a broad range of community, health, 

Indigenous and economic partners to develop, resource, and implement an action plan to 

achieve this goal. 

AND FURTHER THAT a copy of this resolution be sent to the Minister of Municipal Affairs and 

Housing, the Minister of Children, Community and Social Services and the Minister of Health.” 

 

9.3 Child Care Workforce Shortage 

A written report was presented by Ms. MacKenzie.  

 

Resolution 23 03 04   CARRIED    

Moved by Jerry Brandt 

Seconded by Janice Bray 

“WHEREAS the District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board supports 

Resolution 23-13 passed by the Manitoulin-Sudbury District Services Board at their meeting held 

on January 19, 2023 regarding the child care workforce shortage in Ontario; and  

 

WHEREAS access to quality licensed child care is an essential component of Ontario’s social and 

economic well-being and enable children to grow up with a sense of community; and 

 

WHEREAS lack of licensed child care is a barrier for parents to return or enter into the workforce, 

thus putting a strain on families, hindering economic participation, and forcing parents to remain 

at home to care for their children; and 

 

WHEREAS the demand for child care spaces creates waitlists that have parents waiting for several 

years for a space, if they receive a space at all; and 

 

WHEREAS in recent years the recruitment and retention of qualitied Registered Early Childhood 

Educators (RECE’s) and child care staff has been a challenge that has been exasperated by the 

COVID-19 pandemic; and 

 

WHEREAS the workforce crisis in the early years and child care sector has been further 

exasperated by the significant wage disparity between the compensation paid to RECE’s employed 



4 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
March 9, 2023 

by School Boards and those employed in licensed child care centres due to lack of funding which 

has created an inequity for workers with equal qualifications; and  

 

WHEREAS Ontario has signed the Canada-Wide Early Learning and Child Care Agreement 

putting Ontario on the path to reducing child care fees to an average of $10/day which will create a 

demand for more child care spaces when a workforce shortage already exists; and  

 

WHEREAS the province of Ontario’s commitment to a minimum wage of $19/hour for RECE’s 

with $1 annual increases until reaching $25/hour does not provide an immediate response to 

attracting and retaining child care staff and will take many years to correct the wage disparity. 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration 

Board advocates for the Province of Ontario to address the child care workforce shortage in 

Ontario by immediately increasing the $19/hour minimum wage and providing benefits to RECE’s 

in licensed child care centres to an equitable level to that which is paid to RECE’s employed by 

School Boards; and 

 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that the Province of Ontario launch and financially support an 

accelerated Early Childhood Education Intensive program, to be completed within 14 to 16 

months, similar to the program launched in March 2022 for Personal Support Workers (PSW’s), 

where funding supported the costs of tuition, books, and other mandatory fees, to help address the 

shortage of RECE’s in Ontario; and 

 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that a copy of this resolution be forwarded to OMSSA, Ontario 

Coalition for Better Child Care, Childcare Resource and Research Unit, NOSDA, FONOM, AMO, 

and all District Social Services Administration Boards, to request their support and advocacy for 

this resolution; and 

 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that a copy of this resolution be forwarded to Minister of 

Education Stephen Lecce, Minister of Economic Development, Job Creation and Trade Vic 

Fedeli and MPP for Parry Sound-Muskoka Graydon Smith.” 

 

 

9.4 Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness (CAEH) – Homelessness Prevention and 

Housing Benefit 

A written report was presented by Ms. MacKenzie.  

 

Resolution 23 03 05   CARRIED    

Moved by Tom Lundy 

Seconded by Mike Dell 

“WHEREAS the drastic recent increase in homelessness and the concurrent increase in the 

reliance of Canadians on food banks is evidence of the widening of the gap in income disparity 

due to current economic conditions; and 

 

WHEREAS the CAEH has presented data illustrating that the majority of Canadians believe that 

homelessness is a problem and it is getting worse; and 

 

WHEREAS the data also shows that the majority of Canadians believe resources should be 

allocated to improving the situation; and  



5 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
March 9, 2023 

 

WHEREAS CAEH has presented the benefits of creating a Homelessness Prevention Housing 

Benefit; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the District of Parry Sound Social Services 

Administration Board supports the CAEH in requesting that the Federal government create a 

Housing Benefit as outlined in the CAEH report and proposal. 

 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that this resolution be circulated to all District of Parry Sound 

municipalities, AMO, OMSSA and Parry Sound-Muskoka MP, Scott Aitchison; and 

 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that this resolution be forwarded to the Prime Minister of 

Canada and the leaders of the opposition parties.” 

 

9.5 Further Appointments to LHC Board for 2023 

A written report was presented and reviewed by Ms. Johnson.  

 

Resolution 23 03 06   CARRIED    

Moved by Gail Finnson 

Seconded by Ted Knight 

“THAT the Board approve the amendment of Resolution 23 01 03 to add the following Officer 

and Directors to the Parry Sound District Housing Corporation, as follows: 

 

Officer:  Vice-Chair Jerry Brandt 

 

Directors: Jerry Brandt, Joel Constable, Mike Dell, Peter McIsaac, Sean Cotton and Janice 

Bray.” 

 

10. IN-CAMERA. 

 

11.  ADJOURNMENT. 

The meeting was adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held Thursday, April 13, 

2023 via Zoom Video Conference. 

Resolution 23 03 07   CARRIED    

Moved by Jamie McGarvey 

Seconded by Sharon Smith 

“THAT the Board meeting now be adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held 

Thursday, April 13, 2023 at the hour of 6:30 PM via Zoom Video Conference.”   
 



 

1 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
April 13, 2023 

MEETING MINUTES  
Thursday, April 13, 2023 at 6:30 PM 

Board Meeting via Zoom Video Conference 
 

 

Board Members Present:   Board Members Absent: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Staff:        

 

 

 

 

 

Guests: 

 

 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 

 The meeting was called to order by the Board Chair, Rick Zanussi at 6:31 PM.   

 

2. TRADITIONAL LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT. 

 

3.  DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST.  

 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

 4.1  March 9, 2023 

 Resolution 23 04 01   CARRIED    

 Moved by Tom Lundy 

 Seconded by Ted Knight 

 “THAT the Board meeting minutes of Thursday, March 9, 2023 be approved as presented.” 

 

5. DEPUTATIONS & PRESENTATIONS. 

 

6. REPORTS: 

 

6.1 Chair 

Mr. Zanussi and Mr. Brandt are attending the NOSDA AGM taking place this June in 

Thunder Bay. 

 Reminded members to please let staff know if they can’t attend a meeting. 

Jerry Brandt Ted Knight 

Janice Bray Tom Lundy 

Ted Collins Peter McIsaac 

Joel Constable Sharon Smith 

Mike Dell Rick Zanussi 

Gail Finnson  

Teri Brandt Teresa Hunt 

Sean Cotton Jamie McGarvey 

Sharon Davis, Director of Housing Operations 

Jennifer Harris, Administrative Officer 

Shannon Johnson, CFO 

Tammy MacKenzie, CAO 

Sarah Bissonette 

Lisa Cook 



 

2 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
April 13, 2023 

Commended staff on all their hard work in putting together the Board packages and hopes 

all members take the time to read them.  

 

Mr. Collins joined the meeting at 6:40 PM.  

 

6.2 Chief Administrative Officer 

 Ms. MacKenzie was available to take any questions regarding the CAO report.  

 The board packages are now being posted to our external website.   

 

6.3 Chief Financial Officer 

Ms. Johnson reviewed the financial report.  

 

7. OUTSTANDING ISSUES. 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

8.1 Strategic Plan Update 

A written report was presented and reviewed by Ms. MacKenzie.   

  

8.2 Federal Budget Update 

A written report was presented and reviewed by Ms. Johnson.  

 

8.3 Tender: Duplex Conversion 

A revised written report was presented and reviewed by Ms. Johnson.  

 

Resolution 23 04 02   CARRIED    

Moved by Joel Constable 

Seconded by Gail Finnson 

“THAT the Board direct staff to award the tender for the retrofit of 4 semi-detached DSSAB 

buildings within the LHC portfolio to Kenalex Construction Company Ltd. in the amount of 

$990,735 inclusive of HST.” 

 

9. IN-CAMERA: 4 

 

Resolution 23 04 03   CARRIED    

Moved by Mike Dell 

Seconded by Sharon Smith 

“THAT pursuant to Section 38 of the District of Parry Sound Social Services 

Administration Board’s Procedural Rules, the Board moves to an In-Camera session in 

order to address matters pertaining to: 

i) the security of the property and services of the Board; 

vi) a decision concerning negotiations for an agreement or contract between the 

Board and a third party” 

 

Resolution 23 04 04   CARRIED    

Moved by Peter McIsaac 

Seconded by Janice Bray 

“THAT the Board now rises out of In-Camera without report.” 



 

3 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
April 13, 2023 

 

Resolution 23 04 05   CARRIED    

Moved by Tom Lundy 

Seconded by Jerry Brandt 

“THAT the Board supports the decision to cancel the Esprit Expansion plan; and 

 

THAT the Board supports the request to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, 

that the SSRF 4 and SSRF 5 allocation be redirected to the Retrofit Project.” 

 

10.  ADJOURNMENT. 

The meeting was adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held Thursday, May 11, 2023 

via Zoom Video Conference. 

Resolution 23 04 06   CARRIED    

Moved by Jerry Brandt 

Seconded by Ted Collins 

“THAT the Board meeting now be adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held 

Thursday, May 11, 2023 at the hour of 6:30 PM via Zoom Video Conference.”   



 

1 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
May 11, 2023 

MEETING MINUTES  
Thursday, May 11, 2023 at 6:30 PM 

Board Meeting via Zoom Video Conference 
 

 

Board Members Present:   Board Members Absent: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Staff:        

 

 

 

 

Guests: 

 

 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 

 The meeting was called to order by the Board Chair, Rick Zanussi at 6:37 PM.   

 

2. TRADITIONAL LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT. 

 

3.  DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST.  

 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

 4.1  April 13, 2023 

 Resolution 23 05 01   CARRIED    

 Moved by Tom Lundy 

 Seconded by Ted Knight 

 “THAT the Board meeting minutes of Thursday, April 13, 2023 be approved as presented.” 

 

5. DEPUTATIONS & PRESENTATIONS. 

 

6. REPORTS: 

 

6.1 Chair 

Informed the Board of the resignation of Area 4 Board Member Sean Cotton; 

municipalities within that Area are currently looking for a replacement.   

 

Jerry Brandt Ted Knight 

Teri Brandt Tom Lundy 

Janice Bray  Jamie McGarvey 

Ted Collins Peter McIsaac 

Mike Dell Sharon Smith 

Gail Finnson Rick Zanussi 

Teresa Hunt  

Joel Constable  

  

Jennifer Harris, Administrative Officer 

Shannon Johnson, CFO 

Tammy MacKenzie, CAO 

Sarah Bissonette 

Lisa Cook 



 

2 
Meeting Minutes  

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  
May 11, 2023 

6.2 Chief Administrative Officer 

 Ms. MacKenzie was available to take any questions regarding the CAO report.  

 

6.3 Chief Financial Officer 

Will provide the financial report at our June meeting.  

 

7. OUTSTANDING ISSUES. 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

8.1 Homelessness Prevention Program (HPP) Investment Plan 

A written report was presented and reviewed by Ms. MacKenzie.   

  

9. IN-CAMERA: 1 

 

Resolution 23 05 02   CARRIED    

Moved by Teri Brandt 

Seconded by Teresa Hunt 

“THAT pursuant to Section 38 of the District of Parry Sound Social Services 

Administration Board’s Procedural Rules, the Board moves to an In-Camera session in 

order to address matters pertaining to: 

vi) a decision concerning negotiations for an agreement or contract between the 

Board and a third party” 

 

Resolution 23 05 03   CARRIED    

Moved by Sharon Smith 

Seconded by Jerry Brandt 

“THAT the Board now rises out of In-Camera without report.” 

 

10.  ADJOURNMENT. 

The meeting was adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held Thursday, June 8, 2023 

via Zoom Video Conference. 

Resolution 23 05 04   CARRIED    

Moved by Peter McIsaac 

Seconded by Ted Collins 

“THAT the Board meeting now be adjourned to the next regular meeting to be held 

Thursday, June 8, 2023 at the hour of 6:30 PM via Zoom Video Conference.”   



Item 16.2











Item 16.3















Township of McKellar 

Staff Report 

Prepared for: Council Department: Fire Department 

Agenda Date: July 4, 2023 Report No: FD-2023-11 

Subject: Month End Status Updates - June 2023 

For the month of June 2023, the Township of McKellar Fire Department responded to a total of 
8 calls at the time of writing this report consisting of: 
6 Medical calls 
2 Fire or associated calls 
0 Assistance calls (mutual/automatic/ or inter agency aid) 
O Motor Vehicle Collisions 

Apparatus and Equipment: 

Apparatus status for the month of June is stable, with no major mechanical issues coming to 
light. During our truck checks in May an issue has been discovered with the batteries in 
Rescue 3 and they still need to be replaced. Pumper 1 has it's yearly check on June 28 with no 
issues expected. Pump 1 did have a leak which became apparent behind the pump panel 
during our drafting exercises however Deputy Kevin Harmer from Seguin was able to help us 
out and it is now fixed. 

Personel: 

McKellar Fire has granted a 1 year leave of absence to one of our responders whom will find 
himself pulled away from our area for work for the next 12 months. We thank Craig for his 
service and look forward to him returning to our ranks in the not too distant future. 

Training: 

Recruits involved in the WPSRTP will continue attending training the first Saturday and Sunday 
of every month. Aside from that, our department has the following booked. 

May 15-June 15 our members were educated and certified to an awareness level for 

NFPA 1006 Water Rescue 

June 1 - July 1st Several of our responders have been educated and certified to an 

awareness level for NFPA 1072 Hazardous Materials Response. 

December 8,9, 10 We will be hosting and Ice Rescue Technicians certification, with 

attendees from other departments likely. This will be the first time McKellar will have 

been fully trained and certified to provide full Ice Rescue capabilities to our township 

McKellar has been a co-applicant to the acquisition of the OFM Burn Trailer for the West 

Parry Sound group and the Recruit Training Program. We will have the opportunity to 

Page 1 of 2 

Item 17.1





**PLEASE NOTE - Public Copy has addresses redacted**
Item 17.2







From: FONOM Office/ Bureau de FONOM <fonom.info@gmail.com>  
Sent: June 15, 2023 10:06 AM 
Subject: FONOM's House Resolution - Seeking Support 

  

PLEASE SHARE THIS EMAIL WITH YOUR COUNCIL 

  

Good morning,  

                            

A need for affordable housing and support for people at risk of homelessness impacts every 

community across Ontario. Many Councils have supported previous housing Resolutions, 

seeking help to address the challenges seen in our communities. For several years, FONOM has 

heard Minister Steve Clark comment about Ontario needing a better deal from the Federal 

Government. Below is a part of Minister Clark’s speech at the 2022 AMO Conference.  

“Ontario is currently being underfunded by approximately $490 million for housing and 

homelessness over the term of the National Housing Strategy based on the province’s level of 

Core Housing Need, which is the highest in the country.” Also, stated, “We need our municipal 

partners to stand shoulder-to-shoulder with us and urge the federal government to pay its 

fair share, so we can continue working together to deliver support and resources to 

vulnerable populations.”  

FONOM is non-partisan, but the Board believes supporting more funding to address Ontario’s 

Housing challenges should be supported! Therefore, the Board has written and Supported the 

attached Resolution, and they firmly ask for your consideration and support at your Councils. 

The Resolution is lengthy, but it speaks to the data, the current funding, and what should be 

changed to help Ontario achieve better. 

  

Thanks you  

Danny Whalen 

President of FONOM 

   

PS: Attached in the second document are the email addresses mentioned in the last paragraph of 

the Resolution. Also, a Word Version of the Resolution will be available upon request.  

  

Mac Bain 

Executive Director  

The Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities  

615 Hardy Street    North Bay, ON, P1B 8S2   

Ph. 705-498-9510 

  

  

Thank you to the 2023 Conference Sponsors held in Parry Sound  

Item 19.1

mailto:fonom.info@gmail.com


 

 

WHEREAS the Federal and Provincial Governments need to support their most vulnerable 

households, the ones who are or are at risk of becoming homeless. Overall, housing and 

services for low-income, vulnerable, or marginalized people should be a primary consideration 

moving forward so we help those who need it the most. 

WHEREAS the _____Community _____ understands every community across Ontario is 

impacted by a need for affordable housing and support for people at risk of homelessness. 

Municipal governments are working in collaboration with all orders of government to invest in 

permanent solutions to the housing and homelessness crisis in Ontario. 

WHEREAS the _____Community _____ understands that the Federal National Housing Strategy 

allocation formula to provinces and territories for jointly funded housing initiatives, roughly 

follows their share of the national population. This approach leaves Ontario underfunded 

because, as per the 2021 Census figures, the number of Ontario households in Community 

Housing Network as a share of the national total is 44.1 percent, which is well above the 

provincial share of the national population at 38.5 percent. This is also by far the highest share 

of national Community Housing Network relative to every other province and territories.  

WHEREAS receiving a by-population allocation from the federal government hampers Ontario’s 

ability to reach more of those households in need that require assistance with housing. 

WHEREAS the lack of ongoing federal operating funding for National Housing Strategy 

initiatives leads to significant underfunding for subsidized housing projects and can undermine 

the physical and financial viability of the community housing stock. 

WHEREAS a similar situation occurs with federal homelessness funding to Ontario through 

Reaching Home, where the share allocated to Ontario is also below the provincial share of 

Community Housing Network nationally. 

WHEREAS there is an inequitable distribution of Reaching Home funding in Ontario as only 25 

of 47 Service Managers have designated communities receiving funding under the program, 

despite the prevalence of need across the entire Province. 

WHEREAS _____Community _____ understand the federal government takes the position that 

its role is to provide capital funding while Provinces and Territories are to fund operating 

expenses, but this approach does not create an equitable sharing of the burden of funding long-

term operating costs, which continue for the life of a project. 

WHEREAS taken altogether, the underfunding to Ontario for housing and homelessness relative 

to its share of national Canadian Housing Network amounts to approximately $480 million over 

the term of the Federal National Housing Strategy. 

 

 



 

 

WHERAS the federal government previously provided leadership in ensuring the long-term 

financial and physical viability of the social housing stock under the Social Housing Agreement 

for several decades through federal social housing operating agreements that provided funding 

for both mortgages and operating costs. 

WHEREAS without some flexibility on the part of the federal government, Ontario and its 

municipalities will be poorly positioned to take advantage of this funding, and this will turn into 

a significant missed opportunity, leading to a further deterioration in the long-term physical 

and financial sustainability of the community housing stock. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, _____Community _____ also supports the provincial ask for 

federal operating funding for National Housing Strategy initiatives. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED would appreciate the federal effort to repurpose this funding 

quickly from the main National Housing Co-Investment Fund program line, Service Managers 

across the province have indicated their challenges with meeting the terms of the federal 

proposal, particularly as they relate to cost matching and meeting the requirements for 

greenhouse gas emissions, energy efficiency and accessibility. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that _____Community _____ would like need-driven indicators 

incorporated into the funding allocation formulas for all federal programs. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that FONOM appreciates the federal government’s commitment 

to end chronic homelessness and wishes this to be inclusive across all areas of our province by 

expanding Reaching Home funding to all Service Managers. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, FONOM also supports the provincial position in relation to the 

provinces and territories Repair Fund under the National Housing Co-Investment Fund 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, FONOM supports the Province of Ontario position on the 

application-based $4 billion federal Housing Accelerator Fund. We wish to emphasize the 

importance of providing municipalities with maximum support in preparing applications to the 

HAF, understanding that some rural and northern municipalities may face capacity challenges in 

applying to this program on the anticipated tight timelines. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, _____Community _____ wish to request that Canadian Mortgage 

and Housing Corporation consider actions taken by municipalities under the province’s 

Housing Supply Action Plans into account when assessing municipal applications, recognizing 

that these initiatives have the potential to significantly increase the supply of housing in our 

communities. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, _____Community _____ believes the lack of ongoing federal 

operating funding for National Housing Strategy initiatives leads to significant underfunding for 

subsidized housing projects and can undermine the physical and financial viability of the 

community housing stock. 



 

 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, _____Community _____ believe the federal government should 

heed the precedent of the Social Housing Agreement and recommit itself to funding operating 

costs that often stretch out over decades for the lifetime of a housing project. As an example, 

the Rapid Housing Initiative’s 20-year affordability requirement and lack of federal operating 

dollars will very likely result in housing providers asking Service Managers and the provincial 

government to fund operating expenses to ensure the long-term affordability of units given 

housing providers’ limited revenue-raising capacity. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED This lack of ongoing federal operating funding for National 

Housing Strategy initiatives leads to significant underfunding for subsidized housing projects 

and can undermine the physical and financial viability of the community housing stock. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, _____Community _____ urges the Federal Government provide 

additional funding for Ontario so that we can deal with our shortages of safe and affordable 

housing and at the same time build safer and healthier communities for all our residents. 

FURTHER IT BE RESOLVED THAT a Copy of the Resolution be forward to the individuals listed 

below for consideration and support, Prime Minister Trudeau, Minister Ahmed Hussen, 

____Your Federal Member ____, Premier Ford, Minister Clark, __your _____ Member of 

Provincial Legislation, Leaders of the Federal and Provincial Opposition Parties, the Association 

of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), and the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities. 



Item 19.2





^t

a).^.^

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF PARRY SOUND
RESOLUTION IN COUNCIL

DIVISION LIST

Councillor G. ASHFORD
Councillor J. BELESKEY
Councillor P. BORNEMAN
Councillor B. KEITH
Councillor D. McCANN
Councillor C^McDONALD
Mayor J. McGARVEY

N0. 2023- O't'

YES N0 DATE: June 6, 2023

MOVED BY:

Wk-rf^fr^
SECONDE&BY:

CARRIED: DEFEATED:

'^"^^

^^ ^^
Postpone^Tto:

WHEREAS Council ofthe Town of Parry Sound recognizes that challenges ofmental
health, addictions, specifically opioids, and homelessness are complex issues that have

a significant and detrimental impact on the residents of Parry Sound;

WHEREAS addressing and responding to these issues has placed extreme stress on all

levels ofmunicipal and non-municipal programs and services, including various not-for-

profit organizations and provincially funded health services within Parry Sound and
surrounding communities;

WHEREAS mental health, opioids and homelessness trends are, in recent years, at an
all-time high and such prevalence is impacting the overall wellbeing ofthe people of
Parry Sound and the surrounding communities;

WHEREAS Council ofthe Town of Parry Sound acknowledges that approaches to

addressing and responding must include diverse and inclusive approaches to these
issues, and should not be viewed as a single solution response;

WHEREAS Council ofthe Town of Parry Sound accepts that the responsibility to

address these challenges rests with community stakeholders, partners, residents, as well

as federal and provincial government and agencies;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council ofthe Town of Parry Sound calls upon
the provincial and federal governments for additional resources to combat the opioid

crisis, mental health and homelessness; and

...2

Item 19.3



THAT Council ofthe Town of Parry Sound recommends to the North Bay Parry Sound
District Health Unit that a regional coalition of public health, relevant community agencies
and others as appropriate be established in orderto amplify regional concerns and
investigate potential strategies and resources, and

THAT this resolution be forwarded to the North Bay Parry Sound District hlealth Unit, all

municipalities in Ontario, First Nations communities within Parry Sound District, MP Scott
Aitchison, MPP Graydon Smith, Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FONOM),
and the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO).



 

 

 
 Housing Programs  Parry Sound Housing Corporation 

 Housing Stability and 
Ontario Works 

 Esprit Place Family Resource 
Centre 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

District of Parry 
Sound Housing and 
Homelessness 
Annual Report 
2022-2023 

www.psdssab.org 

Item 19.4



 
2   



 
3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Message from the Chair of the Board 
On behalf of the District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board, I am pleased to present our 
2022-2023 Housing and Homelessness Annual Report.   
 
After 2 years of pandemic restrictions, we wholeheartedly consider 2022 to be a year of transition as we 
move out of COVID protocol and back to a new normal. Over the last year, our dedicated housing staff 
have completed many repairs and upgrades to many units within our community housing portfolio, and as 
Service Manager, we were also able to provide funding for similar projects to other non-profit housing 
providers throughout the District, thanks to funding provided by the Canada-Ontario Community Housing 
Initiative (COCHI) and the Ontario Priorities Housing Initiative (OPHI).   
 
Collaboration and integration of services have been areas of focus this year and will continue to be our 
primary focus into 2023 and beyond. Early last year, our Ontario Works and Housing Stability teams were 
unified into one team under the division of Income Support & Stability, with the primary goal being to 
fully support human services integration, and a ‘no-wrong door’ approach. Last spring, that same team 
recruited a Community Relations Worker with many years of experience working at Esprit Place Family 
Resource Centre, our Violence Against Women (VAW) shelter. The collaboration of integrating a VAW 
lens into the Assertive Case Management style of the program has already begun to have a positive impact 
on the work we’ve been doing towards single window integrated service and a ‘no-wrong door’ approach 
to accessing our services. 
    
Another collaborative initiative we are very pleased to be part of is our strengthened partnership with the 
West Parry Sound Health Centre on the collaborative Mental Health Hub to interconnect the hospital with 
community and social services. Through this initiative and our existing partnership with the West Parry 
Sound Health Centre, the DSSAB now has a mental health and addictions professional assigned 
specifically to support those accessing social services. This initiative is intended to actively break down the 
silos between mental health care and other programs and services to ensure that our community’s most 
vulnerable people have access to wrap-around supports and care.  
  
Looking forward, all eyes are on the housing market and the need for new housing development in the 
District. According to the data, Parry Sound saw a population increase above the provincial average 
between 2016-2021. There is no arguing the fact that the demand is strong for all types of housing along 
the continuum. What is most concerning for us here at the DSSAB is the availability of affordable rental 
units. There is a disproportionately high number of single-family homes compared to purpose-built rentals 
in this area which signifies a need for affordably priced long-term rental units across the District, 
particularly within the Town of Parry Sound.  
  
After years of being reactive due to restrictions, our Board is hopeful that 2023 will bring more 
opportunities for collaboration and innovation. We look forward to proactively embracing this new normal, 
despite its challenges, and working with municipalities and community partners to empower the people we 
serve to improve their quality of life.  
  
Rick Zanussi,  
Board Chair  
District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board  

 



 
4 

 

 Objective 1: To provide Home Ownership and Ontario 
Renovates programs to assist homeowners in remaining 
in their homes. As well as supporting those looking to 
enter the homeowner market. 
 
Our Housing Programs team recognizes the importance of affordable home ownership 
within the District of Parry Sound. However, in the context of extreme inflation and 
increased demand for housing outside major metropolitan areas, the current housing 
market is simply not accessible to people living on low and fixed incomes. We also have 
aging non-profit housing stock that needs repairs to ensure longevity and no loss of units. 
Due to these factors, we are currently focusing funding on necessary repairs to our non-
profit housing portfolio, as well as pursuing landlord engagement and increased 
collaboration with the private development sector in the hopes of building more 
affordable homes and rental units throughout the District in the future. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
5 

 
 

Housing Programs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

439
460

403
431

405
418409

330
350

300

350

400

450

500

202320222021202020192018201720162015

To
ta

l o
n 

w
ai

tli
st

Waitlist Unduplicated (2015-2023)

5

9

12 12 11

15
13

5

16
14

12

11 0
2

0

3 2 1 2 1

6

3
5

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

New Applications vs. People Housed in 2022 

New Applications Housed

We have seen a steady increase in 
demand for affordable housing 

within the District over the last 8 
years. As a result, our waitlist trended 

upwards over that time period. 
However, we have been able to lower 

the total waitlist as we enter 2023 
and hope to continue that trend 

throughout the year. 

In 2022 we received: 

125 New RGI Applications 

68 Cancelled RGI Applications 

26 People Housed 

6 SPP Applications 

3 SPP Housed 

* SPP are special priority applicants 
fleeing domestic violence and/or 
human trafficking. They are given 
priority on the RGI housing waitlist. 

In 2022 Housing Programs saw just over 50 households begin receipt of the Canada-
Ontario Housing Benefit (COHB), and we are currently waiting for an additional twenty 
applications to be approved by the ministry. COHB funding currently helps over 80 
households to remain affordably housed in the District of Parry Sound and we are already 
preparing to submit more applications in the first half of 2023. The department has also 
successfully implemented simplified RGI as legislated by the Housing Services Act. The 
RGI calculation no longer focuses on ensuring that every household immediately report 
changes. Instead, most household income changes are only reported once a year at the 
annual review, creating significant reductions in the frequency of calculations. The purpose 
of these changes is to simplify the process so households can more easily understand how 
we calculate their rent and to provide stable rent amounts that change less frequently. Our 
goal is to make the process as simple as possible for current tenants and applicants. Our 
team completed ONPHA’s course “The Simplified World of RGI Administration,” to 
ensure we have the most up to date knowledge of the current legislation. 
 



 
6 

  

Objective 2: To work with non-profit and private 
developers to increase market and affordable homes 
within the District. 
To help facilitate successful partnerships with local non-profit and private developers and 
landowners, our Housing Programs team created a survey based on current best practices 
in landlord engagement. The Parry Sound DSSAB Landlord Engagement survey was 
launched on November 1, 2022 and closed on December 15, 2022. Responses were 
collected anonymously through Survey Monkey and recruited through public posts on our 
social media pages, our website, and through cards with a survey link distributed 
throughout the community. Responses were collected from 14 landlords and helped us 
better understand the concerns of local landlords, as well as determining their interest in 
future collaboration with the Parry Sound DSSAB. This process allowed local landlords to 
provide feedback and opened lines of communication between our housing staff and 
potential housing providers in the District. We will continue to nurture and expand these 
relationships in the hopes of procuring additional units for our service users in the future. 
Maintaining successful, reciprocal, and respectful relationships with local landlords is a 
vital part of our housing strategy. 



 
7 

 
 

Landlord Engagement Survey 
 
 

 
 

46.15%

46.15%

7.70%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

No

Yes, minor repairs

Yes, major repairs

Is your rental property in need of 
repairs?

7.14%

0.00%

7.14%

7.14%

78.58%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

New Build

2-10 years old

11-20 years old

21-30 years old

More than 30 years old

How old is your rental property?

We learned important details about our local landlords through our survey response 
analysis. Most significantly, nearly 80% of respondents indicate their property is more than 
30 years old. This is important because it demonstrates aging housing stock within the 
private rental market. Funding streams such as the Canada-Ontario Community Housing 
Initiative (COCHI) and the Ontario Priorities Housing Initiative (OPHI) were created with 
the understanding that much of Canada’s public housing stock is aging and in need of 
repair. These survey results indicate that the same problems exist within our private rental 
housing market, making retrofit and new development an important priority. Survey results 
also demonstrate that more than half of respondents have properties in need of repair. When 
asked what might make them more open to partnerships with the Parry Sound DSSAB, the 
top 3 answers were: 

1. Funding to repair damages to the unit (58.33%) 
2. Ability to select population of interest (i.e. veteran, single parent, individuals with 

disabilities, etc.) (50%) 
3. Assistance with property improvements (41.67%) 

 
Survey results indicate that local landlords are largely motivated by funding opportunities, 
especially those with long-term cost savings such as energy efficiency programs. Landlords 
also want to maintain a high degree of control over the type of tenant selected for their 
rental units. High demand for rental housing in the Town of Parry Sound puts pressure on 
the local rental market, driving up rent costs in the area and allowing landlords to be more 
selective of tenants. While the highest rents are seen in the Town of Parry Sound, we can 
see by comparing existing tenancies with newly available units that rents are rising 
significantly throughout the entire District. These results indicate a strong need for newer, 
more efficient, purpose-built rental housing that is designed to be higher density than the 
current model of single-detached dwellings. 

 

 



 
8 

 
 

Parry Sound Housing Corporation 
Tenant and Maintenance Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

“I am very happy with my apartment it is bright and comfortable. All the tenants are 
friendly and helpful. The staff are very nice and easy to deal with… the building is kept 

clean and free of odors and any of the housing staff that I have dealt with are kind, helpful 
and understanding. It is really quiet here at night. I love it.” 

- Tenant Feedback 
 

Tenants at our building in Burk’s Falls meet 
for a daily coffee hour in their newly 

renovated common room. 

Our Tenant and Maintenance Services teams went through 
several exciting changes in 2022. The program went through a 
complete transformation with the hiring of two new 
Supervisors, as well as three Maintenance Facility 
Technicians, a Community Relations Worker on the East side 
of the District, and a contract for Tenant Services Case 
Support. The two programs work closely as a team to support 
our tenants. One highlight from 2022 was renovations of the 
common rooms in our buildings. These provided much needed 
improvements and the tenants now have nicer spaces to 
socialize. 



 
9 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Funding from the Ontario-Priorities 
Housing Initiative (OPHI) allowed 

Parry Sound Housing Corporation to 
replace the windows at our singles 
building in Parry Sound (20 units). 

COCHI and OPHI Year 4 funding also 
allowed us to install security system 

upgrades which improve the safety of 
197 units throughout the District. 

We have been able to complete several large repairs 
to our buildings in 2022-2023. One highlight was 
the window replacements for 20 units in Parry 
Sound. Our Maintenance teams also work hard to 
ensure quick response to work orders and after-
hours calls so that our tenants are always safe and 
supported. We have also begun collecting tenant 
feedback which helps us to better understand what 
we do well and what we can improve. This has 
been very successful in improving our relationship 
and communication with our tenants, and therefore 
improving the level of support we can provide. 
 
 
Challenges:  
COVID created significant backlogs in 
maintenance, building, and repairs projects so it is 
difficult to find contractors in a timely manner. At 
times we struggle to meet the legislated 
requirement to procure three quotes due to lack of 
choice and availability in the District. This high 
demand and low availability also put pressure on 
prices, which continue to rise steadily. We are 
consistently working to balance high quality repairs 
with affordable costs so that we can complete as 
many repairs as possible. 



 
10 

  

Objective 3: To focus on building stronger relationships with 
our Indigenous communities and to utilize COCHI funding to 
support the sustainability of our Indigenous non-profit 
housing provider Georgian Bay Native Non-Profit Homes. 
The 2021 Census of Population also demonstrates that the District of 
Parry Sound has a large population of Indigenous peoples, who make 
up 7.2 percent of the total population of the District, compared to 
2.9% of the population of Ontario and 5% of the population of 
Canada.* There is therefore a great need for services created with, by 
and for the Indigenous peoples in the District of Parry Sound. 
COCHI Year 3 funding supported repairs to 13 units of Indigenous 
housing and COCHI Year 4 supported repairs to 6 units of 
Indigenous housing in the District of Parry Sound. We also maintain 
an ongoing partnership with the Parry Sound Friendship Centre, 
which helps with outreach and enumeration in the community. 
* Statistics Canada. (2022). Focus on Geography Series, 2021 Census of Population, District of Parry 
Sound: Indigenous peoples.  

 

 



 
11 

Family Resource Centre 

 

 
A Note from the Director of Women’s Services: 

 
In 2022 Esprit Place became a part of the DSSAB's Women's 
Services Programs. Women’s Services strives to create coordinated 
and integrated single window access to immediate protection and 
quality support to all survivors of violence who identify as female 
and their dependent children. This may include safe emergency 
shelter, income and housing support, referrals for medical 
treatment and police interventions, social, psychological, and legal 
assistance, ongoing counselling and support, and support for 
children experiencing violence. To be successful, we are focusing 
on developing or re-establishing strong relationships with DSSAB 
programs and services as well as community partners throughout 
the region.   
 
The needs of the clients we serve and barriers to accessing service 
have increased over the last few years and Esprit Place is 
committed to updating our programs and services to address those 
realities. Women's Services is working diligently to assist our 
clients in overcoming the following critical concerns: 

 

 Public transportation within Parry Sound and between 
communities in the District of Parry Sound 

 Availability of timely and appropriate addictions treatment 
 Access to safe, affordable housing 
 Employment opportunities 
 A lack of domestic violence awareness and prevention initiatives 
 Complex mental health and substance use issues 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

271 CRISIS 
CALLS 

872 HOURS 
OF DIRECT 

SERVICE 

86 
INTAKES 

2,119 WARM 
BED NIGHTS 

TRANSITIONAL 
SUPPORT TO 24 

WOMEN 

CHILDRENS 
VOICES:      

17 WOMEN  
24 CHILDREN 



 
12 

 

  Objective 4: To focus on creating additional transitional 
units within the District of Parry Sound to assist 
chronically homeless people. 
Our Hotel Pilot Project provided 25 transitional units to people experiencing homelessness in 
the District of Parry Sound (18 on the West side of the District and 7 on the East). That project 
came to an end on December 31, 2022, and our focus has been on making that transition as 
smooth as possible for service users. The Housing Stability team successfully helped everyone 
staying in the hotels into more stable housing by assisting with rental applications, searching for 
rental units, providing transportation to family and other support networks, and by applying for 
the Canada-Ontario Housing Benefit (COHB) and Short-Term Housing Allowances (STHA) to 
make local rental units more affordable. The Hotel Pilot Project highlighted the need for short-
term and transitional housing in addition to long-term rental accommodations within the 
District. With the project ending, we are even more aware of the importance of building 
successful relationships with local landlords to help provide our clients with stable, affordable 
housing.  



 
13 

  

    Housing Stability  
 Community Partnership Highlight! 

The Almaguin Highlands Community 
Partner meeting was held in South River in 
December 2022. We shared information on 
the BNL with our partners and 
representatives from Outloud North Bay 
presented on their program supporting 
2SLGBTQIA+ youth in North Bay and the 
Northeast of the District. 

 

 

74

121

64

128

40
50
60
70
80
90

100
110
120
130
140

Housing Stability Case Support 2022

Support Intense Case Management

Our Housing Stability team continues to look 
for opportunities to increase our presence in the 
community and build relationships with 
community partners and service users through 
outreach. We work closely with Ontario Works 
staff and Housing Stability Community 
Relations Workers are currently spending one 
day a week at Esprit Place, providing additional 
support with transition out of the shelter and 
into permanent housing. We continue to 
research best practices in housing first and 
coordinated access and are consistently finding 
creative ways to implement these strategies in a 
rural and small-town context. Community 
Homelessness Prevention Initiative (CHPI) 
funding continues to be a vital resource in 
helping keep service users out of homelessness, 
but demand in the District continues to grow. 
Our team provided 146 Housing Allowances in 
2022, as well as referrals for 84 people 
experiencing homelessness and 93 people at 
risk of homelessness. As shown in the chart 
below, in 2022 the number of support cases 
nearly doubled and intense case management 
more than doubled. 



 
14 

 
 

Percent of Caseload Exiting to 
Employment 
Target – 2.47% 
Q1 Result - 1.53% 
Q2 Result - 3.3% 
Q3 Result - 4.12% 
Q4 Result - 1.89% 
2022 Result – 2.71%  

Percent of Closures Exiting to 
Employment 
Target – 30.34% 
Q1 Result – 27.85% 
Q2 Result – 43.93% 
Q3 Result – 52.11% 
Q4 Result – 31.37% 
2022 Result – 38.82% 

 

Ontario Works 
 

 

The Ontario Works caseload reached 578 at the end of December 
2022 and we are supporting 38 ODSP participants in our 
Employment Assistance program. We have seen caseloads slowly 
increase towards pre-pandemic levels in 2022 but our Ontario Works 
teams were successful in finishing the year above the provincial 
targets for both percentage of closures, and percentage of caseload, 
exiting into employment. Seasonal work makes up a large proportion 
of the labour market in the District of Parry Sound, we therefore see 
improved employment outcomes in the summer months. The Ontario 
Works team continues to work closely with Housing Stability to 
ensure coordinated case support where possible. In the East side of 
the District, our Ontario Works department purchased a van so that 
staff can meet service users where they are rather than requiring them 
to find transportation to our office. This has been hugely successful 
for our service users as most are living in remote areas with no access 
to public transportation. Discussions have also begun with ODSP 
Northeast Region’s North Bay office and Ontario Works offices to 
discuss joint protocols and maintain a healthy partnership between 
offices. 

 



 
15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      Objective 5: To continue to work toward development of 
innovative Housing First strategies to reduce homelessness. 
The District of Parry Sound saw our By-Name List (BNL) continue to grow in 2022 as outreach 
expanded and our staff, as well as the community at large, increased awareness of homelessness 
within our District. Our Housing Stability teams continue community outreach and regularly 
monitor reported encampments to offer supports to those who want them. We have also worked 
closely with many people on our BNL to assist them in achieving stable housing. Despite a lack 
of suitable rental housing within the district, our staff have worked hard to find stable, affordable 
housing options for people experiencing homelessness. As of December 2022, our Housing 
Stability team has housed 54% of individuals on the By-Name List. 

 



 
16 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

Objective 6: To focus on the development and 
maintenance of relationships with community 
partners and services across the District. 
Through the IMPACT (Inter-Agency Mobilization of Partners Achieving Collaboration 
Table) Parry Sound Community Mobilization Project we at the Parry Sound DSSAB have 
been able to use case conferencing to help high-acuity individuals and families get the 
supports they need. The IMPACT program team meets bi-weekly and allows us to plan 
effective interventions and supports through communication and collaboration with the 
following agencies: Ontario Provincial Police, Children's Aid Society of Nipissing and 
Parry Sound, The Friends Parry Sound, Parry Sound High School, First Nations and Inuit 
Health Branch, West Parry Sound Health Centre, Canadian Mental Health Association, 
Parry Sound District Geriatric Emergency Management, Parry Sound District EMS 
Paramedics, and the Town of Parry Sound Fire Department. 

Our Housing Stability team maintains a strong ongoing partnership with Ontario Works 
and both programs have begun monthly and semi-monthly check-ins with municipal 
offices across the District. This has helped us to increase understanding of what our 
programs do and what supports we can provide to people living in each of the 22 
municipalities within the District of Parry Sound. 

We know that food security and access to medical supports are important concerns for 
many of our tenants and we work with community partners such as Harvest Share, the 
Salvation Army and Ontario Community Paramedicine to help provide support to our 
housing buildings and to the community at large. These community partners also help us 
with outreach and enumeration as they are active throughout the community and often help 
provide a link between our services and potential service users. 

 

 

 



 
17 

 
    Moving Forward… 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Need for New Development 
The 2021 Census of the District of Parry Sound 
shows significant population growth in comparison 
to historical averages. Between 2011 and 2016 the 
population of the District of Parry Sound increased 
by only 1.6% but between 2016 and 2021 the 
population of the District increased by 9.5%. In 
comparison, population growth was only 5.8% in 
Ontario and 5.2% in Canada.* This indicates recent 
population growth in our region that significantly 
exceeds both provincial and national averages. The 
pressures placed by this growth on our organization, 
as well as the regional housing market, have been 
significant. There is therefore a pressing need for 
more purpose-built, affordable rental housing 
throughout the District. It is our goal in the coming 
years to shift our focus from repairs to new 
development to create more affordable units. 
* Statistics Canada. (2022). Focus on Geography Series, 2021 Census of 
Population, District of Parry Sound: Population and Dwelling Counts 

 

2022 was a year of transition as we 
moved out of COVID protocols and 

into our new “normal.” The year 
brought with it many challenges as our 

District dealt with the fallout of the 
pandemic, inflation, and the resulting 

mental health crisis. However, we have 
been excited to see our teams back out 
in the community, supporting people in 
their homes, and completing outreach in 

new ways. It feels like coming home 
after a long period of isolation from the 

people we serve. This reconnection 
offers a spark of hope and a reminder of 

why our communities work better 
together. 

2023 Partnership Highlight! 
We are excited to have begun a partnership 
with the West Parry Sound Health Centre’s 
Nurse Practitioner-Led Clinic for the year 
2023. The purpose of this partnership is to 
identify those who access PSDSSAB 
programs and services, who would benefit 
from mental health and/or addiction 
supports and use our partnership with the 
NPLC to provide linkages to these services. 
The PSDSSAB has provided funding in full 
to support a full-time dedicated Mental 
Health and Addictions Social Worker to 
work within the District of Parry Sound. The 
program is off to a great start with 177 client 
contacts in the period of January through 
March 2023. 



 
18 

 

Appendix A: Annual Reporting Template 
Reporting on the Progress of the Plan 

Objectives Outcomes Measures Targets Annual Progress/ Achievements 
To focus on creating 
additional transitional 
units within the district 
to assist chronically 
homeless people.  

Increase transitional 
housing including 
supports. 

Number of 
transitional units 
created per year. 

Increase by one 
unit per year. 

Our “Hotel Pilot Project” provided 25 
transitional units (18 West, 7 East) for 
all of 2022, ending on December 31. 
Our Housing Stability team is working 
with our LHC to create new 
transitional units this year.  

To work with non-
profit and private 
sector developers to 
increase market and 
affordable homes 
within the District.  

To improve access to 
housing for people 
across all levels of the 
housing spectrum.   

Number of market 
and affordable 
homes created per 
year. 

Create 10 
affordable units 
per year. 

The NOAH project was completed 
last year and provided 25 affordable 
and 25 market units. We completed a 
landlord engagement survey in 2022 
in the hopes of building better 
partnerships with the local private 
sector. 

To focus on building 
stronger relationships 
with our Indigenous 
Communities.  
To utilize COCHI 
funding to support the 
sustainability of our 
Indigenous non-profit 
housing provider.  

Working toward a 
Memorandum of 
Agreement to increase 
partnerships, 
coordinated access to 
services with culturally 
based services with 
Indigenous Partners. 

Number of 
Indigenous rent-
geared-to-income 
units supported by 
COCHI. 

Repair five units 
through COCHI.  

Due to the age of our local housing 
stock, COCHI Year 4 funding has been 
allocated to non-profit housing 
providers for repairs that preserve 
and expand the lifespan of their 
portfolio to ensure no loss of units. 
COCHI Year 4 provided security 
system upgrades and repairs to 6 
Indigenous housing units. 

To provide Home 
Ownership and Ontario 
Renovates programs to 
assist homeowners in 
remaining in their 
homes & supporting 
those looking to enter 
the homeowner 
market.  

To assist with the 
excessive cost of 
purchasing a home & 
the costs associated 
with aging housing 
stock.  

Number of 
households 
supported through 
Home Ownership & 
Ontario Renovates 
programs.  

Complete two 
Home Ownership 
agreements & 
eight Ontario 
Renovates 
projects over five 
years.  

Housing stock in the District of Parry 
Sound tends to be more than 30 
years old and in need of repairs. OPHI 
Year 4 has been allocated to non-
profit housing providers to support 
necessary repairs to 64 units. Repairs 
focused heavily on health and safety, 
including improvements to security 
and fire prevention systems. 

To continue to work 
toward development of 
innovative Housing 
First strategies to 
reduce homelessness.  

To continue rapid 
rehousing & providing 
the supports necessary 
to achieve long-term 
housing stability. 

CHPI statistics 
including number 
of people housed. 

Successful 
interventions as 
determined by 
the number of 
people housed. 

Our Housing Stability team 
successfully housed 92 people from 
the BNL in 2022. We also maintain 
several community partnerships to 
provide coordinated case 
management and mental health 
referrals in order to help maintain 
successful tenancies. 

To focus on the 
development and 
maintenance of 
relationships with 
community partners 
and services across the 
District. 

To continue to build and 
maintain coordination 
and communication 
networks to further 
support clients. 

Ongoing 
commitment to 
participating in 
networks. 

Continuing active 
participation in 
community 
networks. 

We continue to attend the Inter-
Agency Mobilization of Partners 
Achieving Collaboration Table 
(IMPACT) on a bi-weekly basis. We 
also maintain ongoing collaboration 
with community groups such as 
Harvest Share, the Salvation Army, 
Community Paramedicine and the 
Parry Sound Friendship Centre. 


